IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

No. 20-0486

CONSTELLIUM ROLLED PRODUCTS RAVENSWOOD, LLC,

Petitioner,

vs.

EARL B. COOPER, et al., and WORKFORCE WEST VIRGINIA BOARD OF REVIEW,

Respondents.

BRIEF OF THE PETITIONER

Counsel for Petitioner

Ancil G. Ramey (WV Bar No. 3013) Christopher L. Slaughter (WV Bar No. 6958) Steptoe & Johnson PLLC P.O. Box 2195 Huntington, WV 25722-2195 (304) 526-8133 ancil.ramey@steptoe-johnson.com chris.slaughter@steptoe-johnson.com

Rodney L. Bean. (WV Bar No. 6012) Steptoe & Johnson PLLC P.O. Box 1616 Morgantown, WV 26507-1616 (304) 598-8000 rodney.bean@steptoe-johnson.com Counsel for Respondents/Claimants

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The Circuit Court erred by affirming the Board of Review's decision that there was no disqualifying "stoppage of work which exists because of a labor dispute" where nearly 700 workers walked off the job for fifty days requiring the Petitioner's salaried and non-union employees to abandon their jobs and work long hours performing the duties of the striking workers.

2. The Circuit Court erred by affirming the Board of Review's use of a plant production methodology which (a) ignored evidence that practically all of the substantial nonunion work at the plant stopped during the strike so that non-union personnel could maintain some limited production; (b) compared production during the strike not with a comparable period immediately before it but to non-strike production during a worldwide collapse in the aerospace industry during the Great Recession; and (c) ignored the fact that for eleven of the sixty-one days in August and September 2012, the plant ran at full capacity, not strike capacity.

3. The Circuit Court erred by affirming the Board of Review's rejection of federal preemption under the National Labor Relations Act, where it interpreted our unemployment compensation statute to give employers more "incentive to bargain with the strikers" and to "balance the bargaining position" of the parties.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

'The Petitioner, Constellium Rolled Products Ravenswood, LLC ("Constellium Ravenswood" or "Constellium"), operates an aluminum products manufacturing facility near

1

Ravenswood ("the Ravenswood facility").¹ It employed, at the times relevant, around 680 hourly and 180 salaried employees.²

The United Steel Workers union, local 5668 ("Union"), represents Constellium Ravenswood's hourly workers for collective bargaining purposes.³ The 2010 Collective Bargaining Agreement ("CBA") between Constellium Ravenswood and the Union was set to expire by its terms in July 2012.⁴ The parties engaged in extensive negotiations and extended the 2010 CBA twice as a result.⁵ They were unable to reach an agreement, and the last extension expired at midnight on August 4, 2012.⁶

The Union workers voluntarily went on strike and walked away from their jobs on August 5, 2012.⁷ During the strike, Constellium Ravenswood's salaried personnel did what they could to keep it from financial ruin, but they could not maintain more than a fraction of the plant's normal operation.⁸ After further negotiations and concessions, Constellium and the Union reached agreement on a new CBA, and the Union members returned to their jobs fifty days later.⁹

Notwithstanding that they had voluntarily left their jobs, the union workers ("Claimants") applied for unemployment compensation benefits for the period that they were voluntarily not

¹ App. 0005.
² Id.
³ Id.
4 Id.
⁵ Id.
⁶ Id.
7 Id.
⁸ App. 0006-0007, 0033-0046.
⁹ Id.

working.¹⁰ West Virginia law disqualifies unemployment compensation claimants if a labor dispute causes a stoppage of work to preserve labor-management relations.¹¹ In turn, that question has been held to hinge on whether there was a substantial curtailment of the employer's normal operations.¹² As a result of the strike, Constellium Ravenswood contested the Claimants' applications for unemployment benefits, and the claims were referred to the Administrative Law Judge Tribunal ("Tribunal"). On November 1 and 2, 2012, the Tribunal held a hearing, took testimony, and admitted exhibits.¹³

On December 14, 2012, the Tribunal issued its decision. It concluded that there was no "substantial curtailment" of the Ravenswood plant's normal operations, no "stoppage of work during the strike," and that Claimants were not disqualified from unemployment compensation benefits.¹⁴ Although unnecessary to its decision, the Tribunal additionally found that if there had been a work stoppage, the two statutory exceptions to disqualification that the Union claimants had argued for—the "less than prevailing wages" exception and the "denial of the right of collective bargaining" exception—did not exist.¹⁵

- ¹⁰ App. 0004.
- ¹¹ App. 0008.
- 12 App. 0009.
- ¹³ App. 0004.
- 14 App. 0004-0012.
- 15 Id.

Constellium Ravenswood appealed the Tribunal's decision to the Board of Review.¹⁶ The Union claimants also appealed the Tribunal's decision on the limited issue of the existence of the "less than prevailing wages" and "denial of the right of collective bargaining" exceptions.¹⁷

On February 13, 2013, the Board of Review held a hearing on the cross-appeals. On February 22, 2013, in a very brief opinion containing no discussion or independent analysis, the Board affirmed the Tribunal's decision.¹⁸

On March 20, 2013, Constellium Ravenswood and the Claimants each timely appealed the Board's February 22, 2013, order to the Circuit Court of Kanawha County.¹⁹ Constellium appealed the order affirming the Tribunal's decision of no "work stoppage" (Case No. 13-AA-44 or "44 case").²⁰ The Union claimants appealed the Board's Order for not expressly addressing the Tribunal's finding that the "less than prevailing wages" and "denial of the right of collective bargaining" disqualification exceptions did not exist (Case No. 13-AA-45 or "45 Case").²¹

On September 13, 2013, the Circuit Court consolidated the parties' cross-appeals of the Board's February 22, 2013, decision because they involved common questions of law and fact.²² On November 1, 2013, Constellium Ravenswood and the Union claimants submitted their respective appeal briefs to the Circuit Court.²³ The parties' response briefs and reply briefs were

- ¹⁸ App. 0136-0138.
- ¹⁹ App. 0141-0163.
- ²⁰ App. 0141-0143.
- ²¹ App. 0149-0155.
- ²² App. 0177-0178.
- 23 App. 0180-0355, 0356-398

¹⁶ App. 0018, 0087.

¹⁷ App. 0015-0017.

submitted concurrently on November 18, 2013, and December 9, 2013.²⁴ Over six years later, on June 15, 2020, the Circuit Court issued its order affirming the Board of Review's decision.²⁵

One of the issues in this matter regards the appropriate period to measure the economic impact of the strike on Constellium Ravenswood's production. Instead of using the two months immediately before the strike, the Union advocated, and the Tribunal and Board of Review adopted a two-and-a-half-year period, which was affirmed by the Circuit Court stating, "it is not clearly wrong or unreasonable to conclude that a longer, more comprehensive time frame captures a more reliable picture of what is 'normal business' and more accurately reflects the cyclical nature of Constellium Ravenswood's business."²⁶ However, this manipulation of data inappropriately included a period within which Constellium Ravenswood's production had been significantly impacted by the Great Recession from which it had recovered at the time of the strike.²⁷

Another issue regards the further suppression of the economic impact of the strike on Constellium by averaging the output values of Constellium and the Union, which the Circuit Court affirmed stating, "While there may be merit in choosing a different time frame for other types of comparisons, the time frames chosen by the ALJ Tribunal for comparison to the issues raised in these proceedings were reasonable, and likewise took into account the positions of both parties."²⁸

To further minimize the strike's economic impact, the Board of Review included production for eleven days after the strike ended, which was affirmed even though the Circuit

²⁴ App. 0399-0435, 0436-0449, 0457-0477, 0478-0489.

²⁵ App. 999-1012.

²⁶ App. 1004.

²⁷ App. 0181, 0206, 0461, 0544, 0629, 0630.

²⁸ App. 1004.

Court admitted it could "calculate the output metrics for August and September of 2012, divide that figure by the number of days in the same period to get an average daily value and subtract eleven (11) days' worth of that value from the monthly output totals for the labor dispute period."²⁹

The Circuit Court essentially conceded this manipulation of the production metrics:

This Court acknowledges the way production, shipping, and revenue numbers were calculated, the metrics used, the time frames used, the results of those calculations, the market predictions, the value of the items made versus the value of the items not made, the hours worked versus not worked, the positions not filled and so forth are all variables that could be adjusted and manipulated in various ways to produce innumerable results.³⁰

In addition to the preceding manipulation of the production metrics, the Tribunal and

Board of Review ignored the undisputed evidence regarding the compromises made to achieve a

significantly lower production, which the Circuit Court affirmed with the following non sequitur:

Constellium Ravenswood also takes exception with the production based metrics relied upon by the ALJ Tribunal, asserting that by using production, shipping and revenue metrics to determine how close Constellium Ravenswood's plant was operating to normal levels during the labor dispute, the ALJ Tribunal ignored other factors, such as the strained work schedule of salaried employees, that may have had a bearing on how the labor dispute affected business. While it is true that for some businesses, production output metrics may not necessarily give an accurate picture of company operations; however, Constellium Ravenswood is an aluminum production company that, by its nature, is output driven.³¹

In holding that a strike by nearly 700 employees was not a work stoppage, the Circuit Court

relied on Cumberland & Allegheny Gas Co. v. Hatcher, 147 W. Va. 630, 130 S.E.2d 115 (1963), but

the applicable statute has been amended since that case was decided, 32 and one of its syllabus points

²⁹ App. 1005.

³⁰ App. 1007.

³¹ App. 1006.

³² At the time *Hatcher* was decided, W. Va. Code § 21A-6-3 provided that a claimant would be disqualified for unemployment benefits for a "week in which his total or partial unemployment is due to a stoppage of work which exists because of a labor dispute at the factory, establishment, or other premises at

overruled by Lee-Norse Co. v. Rutledge, 170 W. Va. 162, 291 S.E.2d 477 (1982). The Hatcher case involved a lockout by an employer,³³ not a strike by employees, and its application to the circumstances of a strike is dubious at best. Instead, this Court's decision in Verizon Servs. Corp. v. Bd. of Review of Workforce W. Virginia, 240 W. Va. 355, 811 S.E.2d 885 (2018), where this Court held that a work stoppage occurring at an employer's facility during a labor dispute disqualified striking employees for unemployment benefits during the time of stoppage, is more instructive.

Relative to the federal preemption argument, the Circuit Court mischaracterized it as advocating "preempt[ion of[the granting of state unemployment compensation benefits to workers during a labor dispute."³⁴ To the contrary, Constellium Ravenswood argued as follows:

By singling out only those employers who resort to lawful self-help techniques during a strike, with the admitted, stated goal to "balance the bargaining positions," the Board of Review has invaded the congressionally-mandated "free zone [for collective bargaining] from which all regulation, 'whether state or federal', is excluded." Unsurprisingly, and despite New York Telephone, other courts have rejected unemployment compensation laws and decisions that evaluated bargaining behavior or other protected conduct in the decision-making process.³⁵

Accordingly, the Circuit Court erred by affirming a decision that engaged in balancing the

collective bargaining process that Congress has mandated must remain free from state inference.

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

First, the Circuit Court erred by affirming the Board of Review's decision that there was

no disqualifying "stoppage of work which exists because of a labor dispute" where nearly 700

which he was last employed." *Hatcher*, supra at 636, 130 S.E.2d at 119. Presently, W. Va. Code § 21A-6-3(4)(b) provides, "A lockout is not a strike or a bona fide labor dispute and no individual may be denied benefits by reason of a lockout."

³³ Hatcher, supra at 634-635, 130 S.E.2d at 118.

³⁴ App. 1011.

³⁵ App. 0230-0231 (footnotes omitted).

workers walked off the job for fifty days requiring the Petitioner's salaried and non-union employees to abandon their jobs and work long hours performing the duties of the striking workers.

Second, the Circuit Court erred by affirming the Board of Review's use of a plant production methodology which (a) ignored evidence that practically all of the substantial nonunion work at the plant stopped during the strike so that non-union personnel could maintain some limited production; (b) compared production during the strike not with a comparable period immediately before it but to non-strike production during a worldwide collapse in the aerospace industry during the Great Recession; and (c) ignored the fact that for eleven of the sixty-one days in August and September 2012, the plant ran at full capacity, not strike capacity.

Finally, the Circuit Court erred by affirming the Board of Review's rejection of federal preemption under the National Labor Relations Act where it interpreted West Virgina's unemployment compensation statute to give employers more "incentive to bargain with the strikers" and to "balance the bargaining position" of the parties.

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

The Petitioner respectfully submits that because this appeal involves issues of fundamental public importance as a Circuit Court has held that a strike by almost 700 employees at an aluminum plant for fifty days during which an employer struggled to maintain a significantly reduced level of production with supervisors and administrative staff was not a disqualifying "work stoppage" under the unemployment compensation statute, and an issue of first impression regarding federal law preempting state interference in collective bargaining through the interpretation and application of an unemployment compensation statute, oral argument under R. App. P. 20 is warranted.

V. ARGUMENT

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

"The findings of fact of the Board of Review of the West Virginia Department of Employment Security are entitled to substantial deference unless a reviewing court believes the findings are clearly wrong. If the question on review is one purely of law, no deference is given, and the standard of judicial review by the court is *de novo*."³⁶

Specifically, "Where there is no material conflict in the pertinent evidence, a determination whether there exists 'a stoppage of work' as a consequence of a labor dispute, within the meaning of the unemployment compensation statutes of this state, becomes a question of law as distinguished from a finding of fact."³⁷

Applying this standard of review, this Court has not infrequently reversed or affirmed the reversal of the Board of Review decisions.³⁸ Likewise, in this case, this Court should reverse the decision of the Board of Review and remand for entry of judgment for Constellium Ravenswood.

³⁶ Syl. pt. 3, Adkins v. Gatson, 192 W. Va. 561, 453 S.E.2d 395 (1994).

³⁷ Syl. pt. 4, Hatcher, supra.

³⁸ See, e.g., Myers v. Outdoor Express, Inc., 235 W. Va. 457, 774 S.E.2d 538 (2015); Smith v. Bd. of Educ. of Berkeley Cty., No. 14-0851, 2015 WL 2364292 (W. Va. May 15, 2015) (memorandum); Women's Health Ctr. of W. Virginia v. Parsons, No. 13-0519, 2014 WL 2524930 (W. Va. June 3, 2014) (memorandum); Bevins v. W. Virginia Office of Ins. Com'r, 227 W. Va. 315, 708 S.E.2d 509 (2010); May v. Chair & Members, Bd. of Review, 222 W. Va. 373, 664 S.E.2d 714 (2008); Adkins v. Gatson, 218 W. Va. 332, 624 S.E.2d 769 (2005); James F. Humphreys & Assocs., L.C. v. Bd. of Review, 216 W. Va. 520, 607 S.E.2d 849 (2004); Vieweg v. Gatson, 209 W. Va. 268, 546 S.E.2d 267 (2000); Ohio Valley Med. Ctr., Inc. v. Gatson, 202 W. Va. 507, 505 S.E.2d 426 (1998); Glass v. Gatson, 200 W. Va. 181, 488 S.E.2d 456 (1997); Private Indus. Council of Kanawha Cty. v. Gatson, 199 W. Va. 204, 483 S.E.2d 550 (1997); Raleigh Cty. Bd. of Educ. v. Gatson, 196 W. Va. 137, 468 S.E.2d 923 (1996); Smittle v. Gatson, 195 W. Va. 416, 465 S.E.2d 873 (1995); Adkins v. Gatson, supra; Mercer Cty. Bd. of Educ. v. Gatson, 186 W. Va. 251, 412 S.E.2d 249 (1991); Wolford v. Gatson, 182 W. Va. 674, 391 S.E.2d 364 (1990); Perfin v. Cole, 174 W. Va. 417, 327 S.E.2d 396 (1985).

B. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED BY AFFIRMING THE BOARD OF REVIEW'S DECISION THAT THERE WAS NO DISQUALIFYING "STOPPAGE OF WORK WHICH EXISTS BECAUSE OF A LABOR DISPUTE" WHERE NEARLY 700 WORKERS WALKED OFF THE JOB FOR FIFTY DAYS REQUIRING THE PETITIONER'S SALARIED AND NON-UNION EMPLOYEES TO ABANDON THEIR JOBS AND WORK LONG HOURS PERFORMING THE DUTIES OF THE STRIKING WORKERS.

It is important for courts "to protect the unemployment compensation fund against claims by those not entitled to the benefits of the Act."³⁹ Thus, while unemployment statutes are typically liberally construed to achieve their purpose, "[t]his 'liberality' rule is not to be utilized when its application would require [courts] to ignore the plain language of the statute."⁴⁰ West Virginia's unemployment statute "is not intended... to apply to those who 'willfully contributed to the cause of their own unemployment.' Rather, the intent of the act is to relieve those individuals who are able and willing to work but who, through no fault of their own, are unable to find suitable employment, of some of the anxieties and risks attendant to unemployment."⁴¹ "The unemployment compensation program is an insurance program, and not an entitlement program, and is designed to provide 'a measure of security to the families of unemployed persons' who become involuntarily unemployed through no fault of their own."⁴² "[T]he obligation of employees under the Act is to do whatever is reasonable and necessary to remain employed."⁴³

W. Va. Code § 21A-6-3(4) provides, "Upon the determination of the facts by the commissioner, an individual is disqualified for benefits . . . [f]or a week in which his or her total or

³⁹ Childress v. Muzzle, 222 W. Va. 129, 133, 663 S.E.2d 583, 587 (2008).

⁴⁰ Adkins v. Gatson, supra at 565, 453 S.E.2d 395 at 399 (citations omitted).

⁴¹ Hill v. Bd. of Review, 166 W. Va. 648, 651, 276 S.E.2d 805, 807-08 (1981).

⁴² Childress, supra at 133, 663 S.E.2d at 587 (footnote, citations, and internal quotations omitted) (alterations in original).

⁴³ Id.

partial unemployment is due to a stoppage of work which exists because of a labor dispute at the factory, establishment or other premises at which he or she was last employed." Under the Act, "in order that employees may be disqualified from receiving unemployment compensation benefits because of 'a stoppage of work' resulting from a labor dispute, it must appear that there has resulted a substantial curtailment of the employer's normal operations."⁴⁴

In concluding that "[t]here was not a work stoppage at the employer facility as a result of the labor dispute,"⁴⁵ the Tribunal looked not at the Ravenswood facility's "normal operations" but only at its output (production, shipping, and revenue). A manufacturing employer's "normal operations" encompass far more than just the very last steps in the finishing of its wares.⁴⁶

A manufacturer's employees usually engage in *a lot* of operations not directly related to generating those wares. Much of a manufacturer's operations require redirecting time, money, and labor *away from* making products to many other essential endeavors, like administration, management, training, and and compliance with environmental, labor, financial, and many other regulatory requirements. And it is undisputed that nearly *all* that work—usually performed by the reassigned salaried employees—went undone during the strike. A near-total curtailment of those operations undeniably constitutes a "stoppage of that work." The Tribunal, however, failed to take any of that into account in its decision, looking only to current output data.

Furthermore, much of the normal operations of making goods has only an indirect or delayed correlation to finished goods output. Normal processes in marketing, research and

⁴⁴ Syl. pt. 2, Hatcher, supra.

⁴⁵ App. 0007.

⁴⁶ "In the absence of any specific indication to the contrary, words used in a statute will be given their common, ordinary and accepted meaning." Syl. pt. 3, in part, *Ohio Cellular RSA Ltd. P'ship v. Bd. of Pub. Works of W. Va.*, 198 W. Va. 416, 481 S.E.2d 722 (1996) (quotations and citations omitted).

development, sales, customer service, preventive and responsive maintenance, and a host of other operational areas contribute to output, but only indirectly and typically not until later—and certainly not earlier—periods. But again, the Tribunal failed to take any of these curtailed operations into account.

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