#### I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Petitioner Constellium Rolled Products Ravenswood, LLC ("hereinafter Constellium Ravenswood") asserts that the Circuit Court erred in affirming the Board of Review's decision of no work stoppage and use of plant production methods. Respondents-Claimants, Earl B. Cooper, et al. (hereinafter "Respondents-Claimants") responds the Circuit Court and Board of Review decisions were correct.

Petitioner's also alleges that the Circuit Court and Board of Review erred in rejection that the National Labor Relations Law Act preempts state law in unemployment cases. This is not a case of first impression in West Virginia as Petitioner asserts. Respondents-Claimants will fully address this issue in its argument on Page 18 of this brief.

Respondents-Claimants have cross-appealed that they were denied due process by the Three Administrative Law Judge Labor Dispute Tribunal's<sup>1</sup> (hereinafter "ALJ Tribunal"), who erred in quashing sections of their subpoena duces tecum, thus preventing them from presenting evidence that Constellium Ravenswood denied Respondents-Claimants' the right of collective bargaining under general prevailing conditions, and requiring Respondents-Claimants to accept wages or conditions of employment substantially less favorable than those previously for similar work in the locality.

#### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a labor dispute case for unemployment benefits under § 21A-6-3(4) of the Code of West Virginia. At the commencement of the hearing before the ALJ Tribunal, the parties stipulated that there was a labor dispute at the Constellium Ravenswood plant located in Ravenswood, Jackson County, West Virginia, between the 690 hourly workers represented by

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Board of Review, under W. Va. Code 21A-7-7a, assigned this case to three Administrative Law Judges who have years of experience in contested unemployment compensation cases.

the United Steelworkers Local 5668 (hereinafter "5668"), and placed into factual issue the following: (1) Was there a stoppage of work?; (2) Were the employees required to accept wages, hours or conditions of employment less favorable than those prevailing for similar work in the locality?; and (3) Were the employees denied the right of collective bargaining under generally prevailing conditions? (App. 0008.) <sup>2</sup> The dispute began on August 5, 2012, and ended on September 24, 2012, when the Respondents-Claimants returned to work.

Claimants are entitled to benefits if (1) there was no stoppage of work; (2) were required to accept wages, hours or conditions of employment less favorable than those prevailing for similar work in the locality; or (3) were denied the right of collective bargaining under generally prevailing conditions (App. 0008.)

Employer Constellium Ravenswood is appealing the June 12, 2020, Order of the Circuit Court of Kanawha County affirming the unanimous decision of the Board of Review which had affirmed the unanimous ALJ Tribunal's decision of December 14, 2012, finding that there was not a stoppage of work at the employer's facility as a result of a labor dispute, and that the Respondents-Claimants were not disqualified for benefits. (App. 0961.) Respondents-Claimants have cross-appealed that they were (1) Denied the right of collective bargaining under general prevailing conditions; (2) Required to accept wages or conditions of employment substantially less favorable than those previously for similar work in the locality; and (3) The ALJ Tribunal erred in quashing part of a subpoena directed to Constellium Ravenswood. Respondents-Claimants are entitled to benefits if they prevail on any one of these exceptions to disqualification under 21-A-6-3(4). The Board of Review found the findings by the ALJ Tribunal of no work stoppage dispositive and mooted the three questions appealed by

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> App. is Appendix, and Supp. App. is Supplemental Appendix, and transcripts of hearings held on November 1, 2012, and November 2, 2012, before the ALJ Tribunal is designated as HTR pages of transcripts of hearings.

Respondents-Claimants. The Circuit Court did not address the two exceptions in 21A-6-3(4) or the quashing of the subpoena stating that the work stoppage issue was outcome determinative as determined by the Board.

The Circuit Court and Board of Review should have addressed the issues of the quashing of the subpoenas, the failure to bargain in good faith, that employees were required to accept terms, hours or conditions of employment substantially less favorable than those prevailing for similar work in the locality, and failure to issue the subpoena. The employer has now appealed the no work stoppage issue, so the three issues appealed by Respondents-Claimants must also now be addressed.

Respondents-Claimants, in their limited cross-appeal at the Board of Review and Circuit Court, respectfully requested that prior to the Board of Review and Circuit Court rendering a decision on the employer's appeal, that the Court address Respondents-Claimants' limited appeal of the Board of Review finding moot the Respondents-Claimants' appeal of the ALJ Tribunals' quashing parts of their subpoena duces tecum's request for communications between Constellium Ravenswood and Constellium France and Apollo Global Management, Rio Tinto, and FSI, an investment fund owned by the French government, who had control of collective bargaining. (Supp. App. 1662-1667.) Had the Circuit Court found that the ALJ Tribunal erroneously quashed Items 1, 2 and 3 of the subpoena duces tecum, then these items would have been furnished immediately to the Circuit Court so that a complete record is available for a consideration of all remaining issues of the Respondents-Claimants and Constellium Ravenswood on appeal.<sup>3</sup> The Circuit Court also did not address these issues as moot, but in a footnote observed:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Respondents-Claimants' brief on this issue is found on brief pages 24 to 30 herein.

"The Court notes, however, that Respondent-Claimants point to several facts that raise significant concerns which could justify the production of certain communications sought by them if a Court was necessarily reviewing whether claimants were denied collective bargaining under general prevailing conditions on the basis that a foreign national parent entity, while not participating in negotiations, controlled the employer's ability to negotiate contract terms." (App. 0973.)

#### III. TIMETABLE OF APPEAL

On March 20, 2013, Petitioner Constellium Ravenswood and Respondents-Claimants timely filed their appeal and cross-appeal from the Board of Review decision to the Circuit Court of Kanawha County. (App. 0140-0142.)

The Circuit Court by letter dated July 12, 2013, directed counsel to file briefs by November 1, 2013, response briefs by November 16, 2013, and final briefs by November 31, 2013, with proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law. (App. 0687.) The date of November 31, 2013, was extended by agreed order to extend final reply briefs to December 9, 2013. (App. 0455-0461.)

On November 1, 2013, Constellium Ravenswood and Respondent-Claimants filed their briefs in support of appeal to the Circuit Court, (App. 0185-0360.) (App. 0356-0403) and on November 18, 2013, filed their response briefs. (App. 0399-0435.) (App. 0436-0454.)

On December 9, 2013, Constellium Ravenswood filed its final reply brief with <u>no proposed findings of fact or conclusions of law attached</u>. (App. 0457-0518.)

Respondents-Claimants' on December 9, 2019, filed their final reply brief with findings of fact and conclusions of law attached. (App. 0478-0489.)

Two years later on September 24, 2015, Chris Slaughter, attorney for Constellium Ravenswood, responded to a request from Ashlee Lambert, Law Clerk to Judge Bailey, of

Thursday, September 17, 2015, to send a proposed order of findings of fact and conclusions of law. (App. 0519-0525.)

On November 20, 2017, the Circuit Clerk sent a 3-year letter to Christopher Slaughter, and on December 4, 2017, Constellium Ravenswood paid the \$40.00 court costs. (Supp. App. 1673.) The Circuit Clerk sent an additional letter on December 7, 2018, Constellium Ravenswood paid an additional \$20.00 court costs. (App. 0001, Line 36.)

Constellium Ravenswood, since December 9, 2013, had not pursued their appeal except when required to respond to a request from the Judge's law clerk in November 2015 to file a proposed order as directed in the Court's letter of July 12, 2013, and a letter from Kanawha County Circuit Clerk to pay mandatory fees after notification from the clerk on November 20, 2017, and December 7, 2018. (App. 0001, Item 34 and Item 36.)

The normal and accepted practice among litigators is to contact the Court to secure available dates and times for a hearing, contact opposing counsel to secure a mutually agreeable time and date, then finalize with the Court and send out the appropriate notice of hearing.

Circuit judges in West Virginia are inundated with criminal, juvenile, abuse and neglect, domestic relations, mental hygiene, and guardianship and conservatorship proceedings, all of which have priority status on the docket. Litigants in the other general, civil cases are charged with the duty to pursue their cases with reasonable diligence with the Court.

Constellium Ravenswood made no effort for almost seven years to contact the Court or opposing counsel to move forward with this appeal. This is the classic example of the litigant being dilatory resulting in the defense of latches.

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AS TO NO WORK STOPPAGE

The ALJ Tribunal unanimously made twenty-nine (29) specific findings of fact which clearly supported its conclusions of law that there was not a stoppage of work at the Constellium Ravenswood operation within the meaning of the Chapter 21A-6-3(4) West Virginia Unemployment Statute and found Respondents-Claimants were not disqualified for benefits. (App. 0004-0015.)

Constellium Ravenswood, located in Jackson County, is a subsidiary of the French company, Constellium France. Constellium France is owned by Apollo Global Management ("Apollo") 51%, Rio Tinto Alcan, a British mining company 40%, and FSI 10%, an investment fund owned by the French Government. Kyle Lorentzen is the Chief Operating Officer ("CEO") of Constellium Ravenswood, and his office is in Ravenswood, West Virginia. Lorentzen reports to Christophe Villemin, President of Constellium Global ATI, a division of Constellium France, whose office is in Paris, France, and controlled Constellium Ravenswood contract negotiations. (App. 1231-1242, HTR 219-230.) Jerry Carter is Constellium's Ravenswood's Vice President of Human Resources, and he served as its chief negotiator in the labor negotiations at issue in this case (App. 1244-1254, HTR 233). Constellium Ravenswood is a manufacturing plant which produces aluminum products, including plate and coil, which is the normal business activity of Constellium Ravenswood. (App. 0004-0014 - ALJ Tribunal Order Findings ¶¶ 1 & 14.) [Emphasis added.]

The ALJ Tribunal also found that the 2010-2012 contract did not contain a medical necessity clause, yet Constellium Ravenswood through its third-party administrator, unilaterally implemented a medical necessity criterion. (App. 0007 - ALJ Tribunal Order Findings ¶¶ 6 &7.) This unilateral implementation by Constellium Ravenswood resulted in grievances

resolved in the employees' favor. (App. 0007-0008 - ALJ Tribunal Order Findings ¶ 7.) "The employer created and perpetuated the medical necessity issue and controversy which prevented an agreement or resolution of other economic issues." (App. 0004-0014 - ALJ Tribunal Order Findings ¶¶ 7 and 10.)

The ALJ Tribunal thoroughly analyzed the production and shipping of plate and coil produced by the employer from March 2012 to September 2012, and evaluated monthly averages between January 2010 to July 2012, as set forth by claimants in August 2012, September 2012, and October 2012 (App. 0006-0007 - ALJ Tribunal Order Findings ¶ 15-23). Revenue averages for the same periods were set forth in App. 0006-0007 - ALJ Tribunal Order Findings ¶ 25.<sup>4</sup> The ALJ Tribunal carefully and thoroughly interpreted the revenue, production and shipping records during all periods, including the stretcher replacement, and found that during the labor dispute as set forth in App. 0007 as follows:

Production of plate was 62% of normal business Production of coil was 49% of normal business	(ALJ Tribunal Order Findings ¶ 22) (ALJ Tribunal Order Findings ¶ 22)
Shipping of plate was 69% of normal business Shipping of coil was 77% of normal business	(ALJ Tribunal Order Findings ¶ 22) (ALJ Tribunal Order Findings ¶ 22)
Revenue was 72% of normal business	(ALJ Tribunal Order Findings ¶ 26)

As a result of these findings of fact, the ALJ Tribunal found no stoppage of work of the company's normal business activities at its facility as a result of the labor dispute. Consequently, claimants were not disqualified. (App. 0007 - ALJ Tribunal Order Findings ¶¶ 22, 26 & 28.) The Board of Review, on appeal, affirmed the findings of fact of the Tribunal stating:

"...having reviewed all documents, testimony, and the labor tribunal's written decision in this matter, finds the Administrative Law Judge Tribunal has made a proper ruling and adopts the findings of the Administrative Law Judge Tribunal, by reference in its entirety, as regarding the work stoppage issue. The Board of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> App. 1460-1482 - All production, shipping and revenue records are official records of the employer.

Review finds that there was not a substantial or significant stoppage of work at the employer business operation. [Emphasis added.]

Since the work stoppage issue was outcome determinative, the Board of Review did not address the three exceptions expressed in WV Code Chapter §21A-6-3(4), specifically exception (1) if the employees are required to accept wages, hours or conditions of employment substantially less favorable than those prevailing for similar work in the locality; exception (2) if employees are denied the right of collective bargaining under generally prevailing conditions; and exception (3) if an employer shuts down his or her plant or operation or dismisses his or her employees in order to force wage reduction, changes in hours or working conditions. <sup>5</sup>

The Board of Review, having reviewed all testimony, submitted documents and the labor dispute tribunal's decision in the matter, considers moot the claimant's request to enforce and compel compliance with the subpoenas, in that the claimants prevailed.

Further, the Board of Review denies the employer's motion that federal law pre-empts state law. The Board of Review finds that the employer's motion is without merit; the federal law cited does not preempt state law in this matter." (Board of Review Order - App. 0125-0127.)

West Virginia has specifically defined the term substantial curtailment in <u>Cumberland & Allegheny Gas Co. v. Hatcher</u>, 147 W.Va. 630, 130 S.E.2d 115 (1963), <u>Lee-Norse v Rutledge</u>, 170 W.Va. 162 (1982), and <u>Verizon Srvs. Corp. v. Bd. of Review</u>, 240 W.Va. 355 (2018), and will be fully discussed supra in this brief at pp. 9-18.

#### V. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

The case does not involve an issue of first impression regarding preemption of the National Labor Relations Act regarding unemployment benefits under West Virginia law. Respondents-Claimants say to the Court that it may involve an issue of public importance since it involves 690 West Virginia industrial workers.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The italicized parts of the Board of Review's Order are those appealed by the Respondents-Claimants.

#### VI. ARGUMENT ON STOPPAGE OF WORK AND BOARD OF REVIEW'S USE OF PLANT PRODUCTION METHODOLOGY

The well-defined case law in West Virginia for employees to receive unemployment compensation benefits in labor dispute cases under the statutory exceptions of 21A-6-3(4) is set forth as follows in the Smittle v. Gatson, 195 W.Va. 416, Syl. 2 (1995):

"Unemployment compensation statutes, being remedial in nature, should be liberally construed to achieve the benign purposes intended to the full extent thereof.' Syllabus, Mercer County Bd. of Education v. Gatson, 186 W.Va. 251, 412 S.E.2d 249 (1991)."

In accord with Syllabus 2, <u>Davis v. Gatson</u>, 195 W.Va. 143 (1995). Also see <u>Adkins v. Gatson</u>, 192 W.Va. at 564 (1994), <u>Davenport v. Gatson</u>, 192 W.Va. 117 (1994), and <u>Lee-Norse</u> v. Rutledge, 170 W.Va. 162, Syl. 7 (1982).

This Court in **Smittle** went on to opine:

"Our liberal construction reflects the purpose of our State's unemployment compensation laws, which as stated in <u>W. Va. Code</u>, <u>21A-1-1</u> [1978] 'is to provide reasonable and effective means for the promotion of social and economic security by reducing as far as practicable the hazards of unemployment[,]' so as to:

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